ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by admitting illegally recorded conversations that
did not fit within an exception to the Privacy Act.

2. The trial court erred by finding that "no ", "stop" and "I don't want to"
were nonverbal communications admissible under an exception to the
Privacy Act.

3. The trial court erred by denying the defense request for a lesser rape in
the third degree instruction

4. There was insufficient evidence of burglary in the first degree.

5. Counsel was ineffective for failing to move to suppress the tape
recording under the rules of evidence: ER 401, 402, 403.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A conversation recorded in violation of the Privacy Act is inadmissible
in court unless the conversation conveys a threat. Here, the trial judge
admitted illegally recorded conversations that did not convey threats.
Did the erroneous admission of illegally recorded conversations
violate Mr. Barnes's rights under the Privacy Act?

2. An accused person is entitled to jury instructions on an inferior degree
offense if there is evidence that only the inferior offense was
committed. The evidence here, when taken in a light most favorable to
Mr. Barnes, established that he committed only Rape in the Third
Degree. Should the jury have been instructed on the inferior degree
offense?

3. Where the complainant dismissed the sexual encounter as rape and
terminated the sex act without against the defendant's wishes, was the
act of sex committed with forcible compulsion?

4. Was counsel ineffective for failing to move to suppress the illegal tape
recording under the rules of evidence?
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5. Was there sufficient evidence of burglary in the first degree where the
defendant left his clothing and belongings, washed his clothes and
usually came and went as he pleased with the permission of the home
owner?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Corean Barnes and Christina Russell met in 2007 and dated

between 2007 and 2008. RP 199. They developed a sexual relationship.

RP 240. During that relationship Mr. Barnes was never abusive. RP 240.

Ms. Russell agreed to give Mr. Barnes a ride to attend to errands on both

August 13 and 15, 2008. RP 200.

In August of 2008, Ms. Russell decided she wanted to break up

with Mr. Barnes. RP 204. She purchased a digital recorder, turned it on,

and went to pick up Mr. Barnes to give him a ride. RP 204 -205. She did

not get his permission; nor did she tell him she was recording their

conversations. The transcript of the redacted recording is attached hereto

as Exhibit A.

The recording was played to the jury in a redacted form as Exhibit

3. Supp. CP. The recording included the two interactions that Ms. Russell

later described as rape. First, Ms. Russell can be heard saying "no" 27

times before she took Mr. Barnes on his errands and before the alleged

rapes. Exhibit 13, pp. 1 -8, Supp. CP. She later claimed that Mr. Barnes

was touching her breast, digitally penetrating her vagina, and dragging
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her to his trailer. RP 210 -213. Thereafter, Ms. Russell drove Mr. Barnes

on errands to Port Townsend. After the errands were complete, Ms.

Russell drove Mr. Barnes to Mr. Johnson's home where she voluntarily

entered Mr. Johnson's home and voluntarily kissed Mr. Barnes, but

claimed that Barnes penetrated her against her will for 1 -2 minutes until

she made Mr. Barnes stop before ej aculating (although she later recorded

herself saying that he hadn't done anything wrong yet. I ) RP 224 -229,

258. Ms. Russell had her pepper spray with her while in the house. RP

258. According to Ms. Russell, she did not use her pepper spray because

she did not think it was necessary. RP 261. Ms. Russell is heard saying

no," "I don't want to," "stop," . Ex 3. After Mr. Barnes and Ms. Russell

had intercourse, she drove him to his to rock plaza. RP 262.

On the recording, Mr. Barnes told Ms. Russell their relationship

wouldn't end until he said it could end, and that he would let her break up

with him if she had sex with him one more time. Exhibit 3 pp. 10 -13.

Supp. CP. He told her, in increasingly rough language, that he would

not be out of her life until they had sex one more time. RP 213, 217. Ms.

Russell told the tape prior to picking up Mr. Barnes that she was afraid

that Mr. Barnes was going to try to rape her but wished he would so she

She explained at trial that she was in denial and that she didn't think it was a
crime for Mr. Barnes to touch her in this way. RP 235
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could get that on tape and he could be arrested. RP 247. Ms. Russell also

explained that she did not call the police because she did not want to cause

a big scene unless it was going to keep Mr. Barnes away and she did not

believe that whatever he did to her was sufficient to do more than simply

cause a big scene. RP 247 -248.

Mr. Barnes made two statements on the recording that could be

interpreted as explicit threats. First, he told her that he wanted to have sex

one more time, and that he wouldn't take no for an answer. Exhibit 3, pp

9, Supp. CP. Second, he told her he loved her enough to kill her, and that

he " might just kill your cat, just for fun" (although he immediately

explained that he was joking, chided her to "loosen up, ") Exhibit 3, pp.

17 -18, Supp. CP. Mr. Barnes was never abusive toward Mr. Russell

during their relationship. RP 240.

After Ms. Russell left Mr. Barnes at his trailer, she didn't consider

what had happened to be a sexual assault so she did not make a police

report. RP 261, 264. She contemplated the recording over the weekend,

and then called her health care provider, who referred her to an advocate

who called the police on her behalf. RP 235. The state charged Mr.

Barnes with Unlawful Imprisonment, two counts of Rape in the Second

Degree by Forcible Compulsion, and Burglary in the First Degree with

sexual motivation. CP 200.
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Prior to trial, Mr. Barnes moved to suppress the recordings made

by Ms. Russell. Motion and Declaration for CrR 3.6 Hearing,

Supplemental Defense Brief Re: Suppression Motion, Supp. CP 163. He

argued that the recordings violated the Privacy Act, RCW 9.73.030. On

remand fork this Court, the trial court, believed it was following this

Court's directive by redacting several threats, but permitting a redacted

transcript and recording that contained 19 pages of conversation that did

not contain any threats. Ex 3; CP 163. Memorandum Opinion on Motion

to Suppress.

The second retrial started on September 18, 2012. The state

argued that Mr. Barnes threatened Ms. Russell to keep her from leaving

him and raped her twice on August 15, 2007 —once when she picked him

up, and again later at his friend's home. RP 1 -320. Mr. Barnes denied

the first alleged penetration, and contended that the second incident

involved consensual sex. RP 347 -361, 374 -375

The jury convicted Mr. Barnes of Unlawful Imprisonment,

Burglary in the first degree with sexual motivation and two counts of Rape

2 Ms. Russell testified that she picked up Mr. Barnes to take him to Port Townsend
on August 13, two days before the offense date. RP 199 -200. She claimed that Mr. Barnes
told her that he would blow up her house if she left him in Port Townsend. RP 203. She
also said he'd told her he wished he could take all of the women in his life and just pour gas
on them and watch them burn. RP 203 She said he talked about another woman who had

stopped lending him her car and how he wished he could have slit her throat to watch the
dust pour out. RP 203.
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in the Second Degree. CP 54, 57, 58, 59, 196, 197. The court ruled that

the unlawful imprisonment conviction merged with the rape convictions,

and the burglary with sexual motivation and the rape constituted the same

criminal conduct and sentenced Mr. Barnes to 119 months to life. 563-

564, 573 -574. CP 14. Mr. Barnes timely appealed. CP 11.

Burglary

Mr. Barnes rented a room from Mr. Johnson until the middle to

end of August. RP 306. On the day in question, August 15, 2008, Mr.

Barnes kept clothing at Mr. Johnson's and frequently did his laundry on

the premises and was allowed to be at Mr. Johnson's home when Mr.

Johnson was home. RP 307. Mr. Barnes was permitted to enter the home

through an unlocked door. RP 314. On the day of the incident, Mr.

Barnes was doing his laundry and gathering some of his belongings when

Mr. Johnson arrived at his home shortly after Mr. Barnes' arrival. RP 315-

317. Even though Mr. Johnson testified that Mr. Bares was not allowed to

be in his home without prior permission, he also testified that Mr. Barnes

lived in the home until the middle to end of August. RP 306, 315 -316. Mr.

Barnes believed, as per his custom with Mr. Johnson that he could do his

laundry and collect his belongings as needed. RP 389, 393 -394.
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A D!_T TA 4DXT'T'

I. THE TRIAL JUDGE VIOLATED MR. BARNES'S RIGHTS UNDER

THE PRIVACY ACT BY ADMITTING ILLEGALLY RECORDED

CONVERSATIONS THAT DID NOT FIT WITHIN THE ACT'S

EXCEPTIONS.

Washington's Privacy Act requires the consent of all participants

before a private conversation may be recorded. RCW 9.73.030(l). The

Privacy Act "puts a high value on the privacy of communications." State

v. Christensen, 153 Wn.2d 186, 201, 102 P.3d 789 (2004); accord, State v.

Babcock, 168 Wn.App. 598, 604 -605; 279 P.3d 890 (2012). Recordings

made in violation of the Privacy Act are inadmissible in court. RCW

9.73.050. By enacting the Privacy Act, the legislature "intended to

establish protections for individuals' privacy and to require suppression of

recordings of even conversations relating to unlawful matters if the

recordings were obtained in violation of the statutory requirements." State

v. Williams, 94 Wn.2d 531, 548, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980).

An exception permits the admission of recordings made of

threatening communications, where one party consents to the recording.

RCW 9.73.030(2)(b). The exception covers communications which

convey threats of extortion, blackmail, bodily harm, or other unlawful

requests or demands..." RCW9.73.030(2)(b).

Threat," is defined as "[a] communicated intent to inflict harm or
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loss on another or on another's property, esp[ecially] one that might

diminish a person's freedom to act voluntarily or with lawful consent"

Black's Law Dictionary 1618 (9th ed. 2009); see also Webster's Third New

International Dictionary 2382 (2002) ( "threat" defined as "expression of

an intention to inflict loss or harm on another by illegal means and

esp[ecially] by mean involving coercion or duress of the person threatened

State v. Schaler, 169 Wn.2d 274, 293, 236 P.3d 858 (2010). RCW

9A.04.110 ( 28)(a) "Definitions" defines " threat" as:

28) "Threat" means to communicate, directly or indirectly

the intent:

a) To cause bodily injury in the future to the person
threatened or to any other person; or

b) To cause physical damage to the property of a person
other than the actor; or

c) To subject the person threatened or any other person to
physical confinement or restraint; or

d) To accuse any person of a crime or cause criminal
charges to be instituted against any person; or

e) To expose a secret or publicize an asserted fact, whether
true or false, tending to subject any person to hatred,
contempt, or ridicule; or

f) To reveal any information sought to be concealed by the
person threatened; or

N .



g) To testify or provide information or withhold testimony
or information with respect to another's legal claim or
defense; or

h) To take wrongful action as an official against anyone or
anything, or wrongfully withhold official action, or cause
such action or withholding; or

i) To bring about or continue a strike, boycott, or other
similar collective action to obtain property which is not
demanded or received for the benefit of the group which
the actor purports to represent; or

0) To do any other act which is intended to harm
substantially the person threatened or another with respect
to his or her health, safety, business, financial condition, or
personal relationships;

29) "Vehicle" means a "motor vehicle" as defined in the

vehicle and traffic laws, any aircraft, or any vessel
equipped for propulsion by mechanical means or by sail;

30) Words in the present tense shall include the future
tense; and in the masculine shall include the feminine and

neuter genders; and in the singular shall include the plural;
and in the plural shall include the singular.

Id.

The definition of "threat" while broad, "must be strictly construed"

in order to effectuate the underlying legislative intent. Williams, 94

Wn.2d at 548; see also Christensen, 153 Wn.2d at 201 ( "In light of its

strong wording, the act must be interpreted to effectuate the legislative

intent. ") When strictly construed, the exception does not extend to
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ambiguous statements, or to communications that might provide "context"

to threats that fall within the exception. RCW9.73.030(2).

In this case, the trial judge erroneously admitted the tape recording

that largely contained language that cannot be defined as a threat under

RCW 9.73.030(2) or 9A.04.110 (28)(a). Although the recording included

two statements that could be construed as overt threats, it also included

many statements that were (at worst) ambiguous, and others that could not

be construed as threats.

The admission of evidence obtained in violation of the Privacy Act

requires reversal unless " within reasonable probability, the erroneous

admission of the evidence did not materially affect the outcome of the

trial." State v. Porter, 98 Wn.App. 631, 638, 990 P.2d 460 (1999).

The bulk of the recording do not convey threats, even under a

broad definition because they do not communicate intent to inflict harm or

loss to MS. Russell, or by illegal means involving coercion or duress to

harm Ms. Russell or her property, in any manner that might diminish her

freedom to act voluntarily or with lawful consent. The statements convey

Mr. Barnes' frustration and desire to have sex and discuss his past feelings

3 The overt threats were Mr. Barnes's statement that he planned to have sex with
her whether she wanted to or not, and that he might kill her and her cat Exhibit. 10, Supp.
CP.
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but none of the statements are in any sense actual threats.

In State v. Brown, 137 Wn.App. 587, 154 P.3d 302. (2007), the

Court held insufficient to establish a "threat" the defendant's statements

about a judge regarding the defendant's past thoughts about harming the

judge and the judge's family. Brown, 137 Wn.App. at 591.

In State v. Caliguiri, 99 Wn.2d 501, 507 -508, 664 P.2d 466 (1983)

the court held that under the Privacy Act the trial court did not err in

playing a tape that conveyed planning among coconspirators to implement

an earlier request to commit murder. Id.

Here, the evidence prejudiced Mr. Barnes because it showed him

engaged in offensive but nonthreatening behavior: begging, demanding,

and pressuring Ms. Russell to have sex with him. However as in Brown,

the evidence did not constitute threats. The erroneous admission of the

recordings was not harmless because it cannot be said that the evidence

did not materially affect the outcome of the trial. Porter, supra. The

illegally recorded material painted Mr. Barnes in such a negative light that

no juror could avoid having her or his passions and prejudices swayed.

Accordingly, Mr. Barnes's conviction must be reversed and the case

remanded to the trial court for a new trial. Porter, supra.

A. The Trial Court Erred by Construing as non-
verbal communication the Words " No ",

stop ", and " I don't want to ", and
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Permitting their Admissibility in Violation

of the Privacy

The Privacy Act is inapplicable to sounds of an event, however,

No ", "stop ", and "I don't want to" are verbal communications not exempt

from the Privacy Act. State v. Smith, 85 Wn.2d 840, 540 P.2d 424 (1975).

The trial court erroneously categorized these words as non - verbal threats

but explicitly ruled that the words were to inform he jury that Ms. Russell

repeatedly said she did not want to have sex with Mr. Barnes: i.e. verbal

communications. RP 80 -81. These remarks did not convey threats, either

directly or indirectly, and did not fall under the exceptions to the Privacy

Act. Under Smith, the word "no" and "stop" do not "convey" threats thus

the trial court erred by permitting the jury to listen to these

communications.

B. Hostage Holder Exception Inapplicable

The trial also erroneously admitted the tape recording under the

hostage holder exception which authorizes the admission of certain

statements made "which relate to communications by a hostage holder or

barricaded person as defined in RCW 70.85.100. RCW 70.85.100 defines

a " hostage holder" as someone who commits unlawful imprisonment

under RCW 9A.40.040. Under the hostage holder exception authorizes

the admission of the portion of the recording only during the period of
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unlawful imprisonment. Here, the trial court erred in admitting the

portions of the recording that did not fall within this or any other statutory

exceptions.

For the sake of this argument only, according to Ms. Russell she

voluntarily stayed with Mr. Barnes during the entire duration of the

recording with the exception of 1 -2 minutes. Ms. Russell informed the

jury that on August 15, 2008, she arrived at Mr. Barnes' residence to give

him a ride because she had promised to do so. RP 212, 227 -229; EX 3 pp.

middle 7- middle page; bottom p. 17 -18. She was not coerced or threatened

into driving Mr. Barnes around that day and not even arguably a hostage,

during more than 1 -2 minutes, this exception does not apply to permit the

22 minute recording. RP 549.

IL NOTWHITHSTADING PRIVACY ACT ISSUES, COUNSEL
WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE

ADMISSION OF THE TAPE RECORDING UNDER THE

EVIDENCE RULES: ER 401, 402, AND 403.

Here, the trial court did not conduct an ER 401, 402 or ER 403

analysis prior to admitting the defense challenged tape recording. CP 101,

138. Evidentiary errors that are non - constitutional require reversal when

within reasonable probabilities, the error materially affected the outcome
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of the trial. State v. Beadle, 173 Wn.2d 97, 121, 265 P.3d 863 (2012).

Evidentiary errors admitting res gestae evidence, are reviewed "not

under ER 404(b), but under ER 401, ER 402, and ER 403." State v.

Briejer, 172 Wn.App. 209, 225, 289 P.3d 698 (2012). Only relevant

evidence is admissible at trial. ER 402. " ` Relevant evidence' means

evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of

consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less

probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Even relevant

evidence " may be excluded if its probative value is substantially

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or

misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or

needless presentation of cumulative evidence." ER 403. Evidence that is

likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision,

creates a danger of unfair prejudice. Beadle, 173 Wn.2d at 121; Briejer,

172 Wn.App. at 225 -226; State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 264, 893 P.2d.

615 (1995).

Recently this court addressed the proper analysis for considering

the admission of "res gestae" under ER 404(b). Briejer, 172 Wn.App. at

225. Following, State v. Grier, 168 Wn.App. 635, 645, 278 P.3d 225

2012), which departs "from characterizing this r̀es gestae' evidence as an

exception to ER 404(b), the Court held that " [s]uch a distinction, in our

14



view, is necessary because, as other courts and commentators have noted,

characterizing the res gestae rule as an exception to ER 404(b) is

indefinite, is prone to abuse, and `tends merely to obscure' ER 404(b)

analysis." Briefer, 172 Wn.App. at 224, quoting, Grier, 168 Wn.App. at

645 n. 19, 278 P.3d 225, quoting, United States v. Krezdorn, 639 F.2d

1327, 1332 (5th Cir.1981).

In Briejer, this Court reversed a conviction for credit card theft and

remanded for a new trial where the trial court admitted res gestae

regarding the defendant's extreme sports activities because those activities

while minimally part of the background leading up to the reason for the

investigation, operated as propensity evidence that would have led a

reasonable juror to believe that the defendant was deceitful. This Court

held that the nexus requirement was missing between the extreme sport

evidence and the credit card theft. Breijer, 172 Wn. App.at 227. This

Court reversed and held that the evidence was unfairly prejudicial and an

abuse of discretion under ER 401, ER 402, ER 403, as well as under ER

404(b). Id.

Rape in the second degree required the state to prove: a rape

under circumstances not constituting rape in the first degree, the person

engages in sexual intercourse with another person: (a) By forcible

compulsion ". RCW 9A.44.050. The conversations between Mr. Barnes

15



and Ms. Russell did not create a nexus to the element of "forcible

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