# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II NO. 44075-0-II

# FROM CLALLAM COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. 08-00340-9

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

# **COREAN BARNES**

Appellant.

## AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Lewis M. Schrawyer, WSBA # 12202
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Clallam County Courthouse
223 East Fourth Street, Suite 11
Port Angeles, WA 98362-3015
(360) 417-2297 or 417-2296
<a href="mailto:lschrawyer@co.clallam.wa.us">lschrawyer@co.clallam.wa.us</a>
Attorney for Respondent

		To control of the con

#

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

# **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE**

Did the trial court err when it admitted into evidence a secretly recorded conversation that was replete with threats which the trial court designated as extortion and unlawful requests or demands, both exceptions to the Privacy Act?

### RESPONSE

The trial court correctly determined that some portions of the recorded conversations were exceptions to the Privacy Act.

Standard of Review: Interpretation of a statute is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Christensen, 153 Wn.2d 186,

194, 102 P.3d 789 (2004). The trial court's ultimate decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on unreasonable or untenable grounds. *State v. Rafay*, 167 Wn.2d 644, 655, 222 P.3d 86 (2009). The party challenging an evidentiary ruling bears the burden of proving the trial court abused its discretion. *State v. Williams*, 137 Wn.App. 736, 743, 154 P.3d 322 (2007).

# **ANALYSIS**

Washington's Privacy Act provides, in relevant part:

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, it shall be unlawful for any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or the state of Washington, its agencies, and political subdivisions to intercept, or record any:

. . .

b. Private conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation regardless how the device is powered or actuated without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the

#### conversation.

The State concedes the recording included conversations that were "private" while not conceding that all of the recording related to conveying a conversation. *State v. Christensen, supra* at 192, 102 P.3d 789 (Privacy Act protects telephone conversations). But, some of the recorded information clearly falls into the act's exception: RCW 9.73.030(2) provides exceptions to the consent requirement:

Notwithstanding subsection (1) of this section, wire communications or conversations (a) of an emergency nature, such as the reporting of a fire, medical emergency, crime, or disaster, or (b) which convey threats of extortion, blackmail, bodily harm, or other unlawful requests or demands, ... may be recorded with the consent of one party to the conversation.

Clearly, Mr. Barnes took umbrage at C.R.'s attempt to break off their relationship on her terms and conveyed on many occasions during the taped conversation the intent to cause bodily injury to C.R. (force her to have sex one more time or kill her if she would not consent) or physical damage to the property of C.R.

(to kill and skin her cat). Many of the comments were clearly extortion: either have sex with me or (1) I will never leave you alone or (2) I will kill you, any other lover or your cat. Mr.

Barnes admitted the two explicit threats were admissible. The trial court, however, correctly analyzed whether other portions of the recording were admissible as an exception to the Privacy Act. Each of the admitted portions of the recording was analyzed correctly:

The first admitted portion of the recording at page 1 of the transcript related to Mr. Barnes' attempt to sexually assault C.R. in her vehicle. The recording clearly shows she is telling him not to assault her – cause her bodily harm – and he is simply not going to stop. By the middle of page 5, he is dragging C.R. to the camper and she is protesting loudly ("I don't want to go in there.)" "CB: "I want you to stop [resisting]." CR: "I don't want to stop [struggling].") Mr. Barnes tells C.R. that she is going to go into the camper. C.R. is crying and he is "asking her" to go into the camper so he can show her something. Then, the sound

of struggling in which he is ordering her to "turn around. Turn around. Turn around" on page 7. Mr. Barnes had no right to touch her vagina in the car or drag her to the camper and his demands were an unlawful request or demand.

The second admitted portion of the recording on page 8 ("You hurt my wrist") supports the first admitted portion, showing Mr. Barnes' use of force caused injury to C.R. It is a res gestae statement, supportin the bodily injury he caused her by dragging her by her wrists.

Defense counsel was not ineffective because he did not challenge admission of "You hurt my wrists" when the trial court held it was a res gestae statement.

Mr. Barnes asserts that defense counsel was ineffective because he did not challenge this ruling under ER 401, 402 and 403.

Standard of Review: To establish ineffective assistance, a defendant must show that counsel's conduct was deficient and that the deficient performance resulted in prejudice. State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007). Counsel's failure

to anticipate changes in the law does not constitute deficient performance, even if counsel has an obligation to research relevant topics facing his client. *State v. Brown*, 159 Wn.2d 366, 245 P.3d 776 (2011).

Mr. Barnes cited to *State v. Grier*, 168 Wn.App. 635, 278 P.3d 225 (2012), which was published June 7, 2012, three months before his second trial began. Counsel's failure to conduct research into current decisions is apparently the basis for the ineffective assistance claim.

The *Grier* decision departed from other Washington decisions about the court-created *res gestae* exception because it conflicts (conflates) with ER 404 (b). The case involved admission of evidence that was not relevant to the issue before the trier of fact. The question then is whether the *Grier* decision applies to the facts of this case. It does not; the statement the trial court termed *res gestae* in this case was not a substitute for ER 404 (b) analysis. The trial court's decision, although it termed "You hurt my wrist" as *res gestae*, also stated the

when he dragged her by the wrists. The evidence is relevant to show the pain that Mr. Barnes caused C.R. The trial court's characteristic therefore meets the definition of relevant evidence in ER 401 and is admissible under ER 402. There is no error in admitting the comment and certainly there is no ineffective assistance of counsel. In any event, failure to cite to ER 401, 402, or 403 was harmless. That one small section of the transcript and recording, perhaps three seconds or four seconds, would have no impact in light of the rest of the recordings.

All trial court decisions about admissibility after this point are also admissible as an exception to the Privacy Act or because the Privacy Act does not apply to them.

The recording continues with his threat to have sexual contact or intercourse while she drives ("I'm going to finger your pussy while you're driving", page 8). That is a threat to cause bodily injury.

The third admitted portion of the recording on page 8 ("It's not going to end until I say so") is part of the Mr. Barnes'

extortion threats and continues into the language on page where he stated "I'm not taking no for an answer..." This is part of the extortion theme and also is a threat to cause bodily harm. The theme continues in the next portion of the admitted recording on page 11, where Mr. Barnes warns her he is going to f--- her one more time, he is not going to take no for an answer, and either she complies or he will be in her life forever. When C.R. tells him his threats are harassment (page 13), he ignores her and tells her she will not be able to prove it it. On page 14, C.R. threatens to crash her vehicle to get away from him so "at least I won't have to have sex with you." Mr. Barnes responded "Oh you still have to have sex with me. Either that or... C.R. asks Mr. Barnes if he is threatening her. His response on page 15 is "Well you are gonna have sex with me. I ain't asking you, I'm telling you. You want to be done with me, that's that's that's the agreement. Then you are out." He continued on page 15 with "And I guarantee you I'm doing it." These statements fits a number of categories: It conveys a threat of extortion, threatens bodily

harm, and makes an unlawful request or demand.

When C.R. indicated on page 16 that she had a right to say no, he warned her that if she "goes to the cops" he will "know about it." If she tries to get a "harassment order" (page 16) he will ignore it because it's just "a piece of paper." He then threatened to sue her for defamation if she said anything, touting the skills of his private attorney and telling her she is like a "beaten dog." His final degrading threat is "revenge is best served cold (page 17). On page 18, he continued with "I'm just letting you know what I am capable of doing."

On page 18, Mr. Barnes stated "If I can't have you, nobody can" and then "I love you enough to kill you." When asked if he was making a threat, he stated "I love you enough to kill you. If I can't have you nobody can. If I find out you talked to somebody that mother--- is dead." Then, Mr. Barnes threatened to kill and skin her cat if she does not agree to have sex with him one last time ("I might have to kill your cat, just for fun. Don't have to skin him"). Mr. Barnes admits on appeal

that these are explicit threats to kill C.R. or her cat.

The final section the trial court ruled on in its written opinion as an exemption begins on page 19. It is mostly the victim repeating the word "stop...stop...stop..." over and over again with Mr. Barnes acting as if he does not have a clue that she does not want to have sex with him. The trial court opined that this final portion showed that Mr. Barnes was insisting on having sexual relations with C.R. and she was resisting both verbally and physically. The trial court held the communication would fall within the exception of the statute that covers "unusual requests or demands." The trial court correctly analyzed this portion of the recording; the court's analysis also supports all of the other portions of the recording in which the victim was trying to get Mr. Barnes to stop and Mr. Barnes was forcing himself on her.

As the trial court also noted, a significant portion of the recording was what the court termed "nonverbal communication" ("stop" or "I don't want to"). The State

understands the trial court's analysis (e.g., a mother can silence her child with just a glance in most cases), but it does not accept that much of the recording is protected by the Privacy Act. First, the act protects "communication" that "conveys" something. When there is neither communication nor something being conveyed, the act does not apply. Second, it does not fit because it merely reflects the sounds of a rape in progress. It is background noise.

There is no question the Privacy Act is intended to protect all *conversations* or *communications* however they are *conveyed*. The final recorded segment at page 65, as with other places where she is pleading with him to stop certainly does not contain a conversation. The sound of a person begging the rapist to stop is not a conversation. Nor is it communication. The Oxford English Online Dictionary defines "communication" as "imparting or exchanging of information or news." Even interpreting the Privacy Act most stringently, this portion of the redacted tape does not merit protection.

The State's position is supported by the language of the Privacy Act, itself. RCW 9.73.010, the first Privacy Act, dealt with "wrongfully obtain[ing] or attempt[ing] to obtain, any knowledge of a telegraphic message,..." A telegraphic message conveys information; it is a communication. The statute' clear language protects a document that includes information, is sent as a communication, and conveys the information it includes. The later addition to the act, RCW 9.73.030, makes it illegal to intercept or record "Private communication transmitted by telephone, telegraph, radio, or other device..." without twoparty consent. The language obviously modernizes and extends RCW 9.73.010 beyond telegrams to other devices not in existence in 1881. The statute's language does not mean that all recordings are protected from disclosure.

RCW 9.73.040 begins a series of exceptions that permit law enforcement to intercept private communications with drug dealers or other criminals. Inmates are not protected from recording or divulging telephone calls or other "monitored"

nontelephonic conversations..." RCW 9.73.095. In other words, what one inmate says to another can be recorded and divulged. Somewhat intriguingly, RCW 9.73.110 permits building owners to record and divulge conversations or communications if the person is engaged in a criminal act at the time of such communication, yet C.R. may be civil and criminally liable for taping the sounds of her rape. However, the State does not believe the Privacy Act applies to background crime sounds and the act's language supports the State.

Even if the Privacy Act applied to some of the recording, background sounds are clearly exempted. In *State v. Smith*, 85 Wn.2d 840, 540 P.2d 424 (1975), the Washington Supreme Court held that a secret recording capturing the events surrounding a murder was admissible evidence. In *Smith* the defendant was a Seattle police detective charged with homicide. 85 Wn.2d at 842. The defendant had previously arrested the victim. *Id.* The victim agreed to meet an unidentified caller regarding a case against him. *Id.* Prior to his meeting, the victim

purchased a small tape recorder that he concealed the recorder under his clothing. *Id.* The victim was shot and killed when then met the unidentified caller. *Id.* A recording of the incident was discovered during an autopsy in the medical examiner's office. *Smith*, 85 Wn.2d at 843.

The tape begins with remarks by [the victim], introducing [his neighbor who waited for the victim nearby] and stating his destination. The two men discuss the walkietalkies and other arrangements, and [the victim] starts toward the designated alley. As he walks he narrates, describing the scene around him and describing with particular care each person in the vicinity. Remarking, 'Everything looks quite normal,' he says he is turning into the upper part of the alley. Then, suddenly are heard the sounds of running footsteps and shouting, the words 'Hey!' and 'Hold it!' [The victim] saying [the defendant's name], and a sound resembling a gunshot. The running stops, and [the defendant] tells [the victim] to turn around. [The victim] asks 'What's the deal?' [The defendant] replies, 'You know what the deal is. I'll tell you one thing baby, you have had it.'

Several more words are exchanged, not all of which are clearly intelligible, about whether [the defendant] has 'a charge.' Then [the victim] asks, 'If you wanted me, why didn't you come to see me?' [The defendant] replies, 'I'll tell you why.' A moment later, another shot is heard. The quality of the recoding becomes 'tinny.' ... then [the victim], screaming, repeatedly begs for his life. More shots are fired. There is a slight pause, two more shots are

heard, then certain [unclear] sounds, then silence. After a period of nearly complete silence, a voice is heard to say, 'We've already called the police.' Another voice says, 'Hey, I think this guy's dead, man." Afterward, the tape records police sirens and the sounds of the officer investigation.

Id. at 844-45. The Supreme Court affirmed that the tape was admissible under RCW 9.73 and reasoned that "[g]unfire, running shouting, and [the victim's] screams do not constitute 'conversation' within that term's ordinary connotation of oral exchange, discourse, or discussion." Id. at 846.

In this case, there are numerous sounds and statements that do not constitute an oral exchange of sentiments, observations, opinions, or ideas. The recording captures sounds of two sexual assaults at the beginning and end of the road trip (as well as during the car ride). During these events, C.R. is overheard stating "no," "I don't want you to do this," crying, gasping, whimpering, and struggling against Mr. Barnes. This Court should hold that the real time recordings of the sexual assaults are admissible.

Any error in admitting more recording than permitted under the Privacy Act was harmless.

Harmless error analysis applies because "[f]ailure to suppress evidence obtained in violation of the act is prejudicial unless, within reasonable probability, the erroneous admission of evidence did not materially affect the outcome of the trial." *State v. Christensen* at page 200, 102 P.3d 789.

Mr. Barnes complains that the trial court admitted too much. Every section of the recording implicitly or explicitly conveyed a threat to extort or cause bodily injury to C.R. If the trial court erred ever so slightly when it admitted a little more of the conversation than the actual threat, the error is harmless. First, the error is harmless because the relevant admissible portions overwhelmingly showed that Mr. Barnes was going to have sex with C.R. or kill her (or, at least, harass her). Second, C.R. testified at length about everything that was on the recording. Viewed in a light most favorable to the State, the evidence was clearly enough to show she was penetrated against

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